

Failing to teach the teacher: An analysis of mathematics Initial Teacher Education

Glenn Fahey, Jordan O'Sullivan, and Jared Bussell



A catalogue record for this book is available from the National Library of Australia

Failing to teach the teacher: An analysis of mathematics Initial Teacher Education

Glenn Fahey, Jordan O'Sullivan, and Jared Bussell





the centre for INDEPENDENT STUDIES

Analysis Paper 29

Contents

Executive summary1
Introduction
What is ITE?4
How maths teaching is being taught in Australian ITE5
Further problems with ITE in Australia7
How maths is taught in Australian schools9
How maths should be taught in Australian schools12
How ITE should be managed14
Conclusion15
Appendix16
Endnotes

Executive summary

Australian student achievement in the OECD-run Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) has declined more steeply and consistently than in any other country, other than Finland. This decline has been greatest in mathematics, where the average Australian 15-year-old is around 14 months behind, compared to their counterpart in the early 2000s.

Policymakers' concerns about the performance of the education system are increasingly being centred around initial teacher education (ITE). In 2021, the federal government initiated a new Quality Initial Teaching Review, in part to better prepare graduates to be more effective teachers.

Numerous reviews into the sector have exposed generally poor standards and an unsatisfactory integration of evidence-based practice in ITE.

Partly to blame for this is an ideological preference for generally student-led, 'constructivist', rather than teacher-led 'instructivist' teaching approaches. As a result, teachers aren't equipped with a full range of practices that will be effective in teaching all learners. Of special concern in mathematics teaching is a lack of explicit instruction (a set of practices that place a central role in teacher-led instruction) and an overemphasis on constructivist-inspired approaches (a set or practices that place a central role in facilitating student-led inquiry).

ITE courses do not provide maths teachers the tools to employ explicit instruction

Based on an analysis of 90 mathematics units from the Bachelor of Education (Primary) courses of 31 universities, there is virtually no evidence of ITE where explicit instruction is clearly emphasised.

Of those universities, 27 clearly emphasise constructivist approaches, while 4 are either ambiguous or emphasise a range of teaching approaches. No mathematics units from any of the universities in the analysis appear to have a clear emphasis on explicit instruction.

This appears to be the result of an ongoing ideological bias — against explicit instruction, and in favour of constructivist teaching approaches — among education academics and ITE providers.

Given the significant evidence that supports the use of explicit instruction, graduate teachers cannot be considered classroom-ready unless they have appropriate knowledge and skill in implementing explicit instruction. There is reason to believe that poor classroomreadiness of beginning teachers is directly the result of inadequate preparation during ITE.

Explicit instruction is not sufficiently practiced in Australian mathematics classrooms

Compared to mathematics classrooms of highperforming education systems — such as Singapore, Hong Kong, Shanghai, and Taiwan — Australia's are much more likely to employ constructivist-inspired teaching practices.

A lack of teacher-led instruction in Australia has contributed to declining student achievement. It's estimated that the average 15-year-old would be around 10 months ahead of where they currently are if they received mostly teacher-led instruction, with only occasional student-led practice.

It is reasonable to conclude that increasing preference for constructivist teaching approaches in recent decades has significantly contributed to the achievement decline of Australian teachers. This ideological preference originates from ITE.

Greater practice of explicit instruction would lift student achievement in mathematics

Education research shows there are important benefits from explicit instruction in mathematics. While the impact is found to be especially positive for struggling learners and those with learning difficulties, there is evidence that all learners benefit from at least some form of consistent explicit instruction.

There are some specific practices that are regularly found to be among the most effective for all learners:

- Clear teacher demonstrations that recognise implications of cognitive load.
- Guided, scaffolded practice opportunities that allow students to verbalise.
- Immediate corrective feedback to clarify and confirm students' progress.
- Spaced and interleaved practice to facilitate cumulative review of content.

Effective teaching doesn't employ explicit instruction alone, but a great deal of explicit instruction is often necessary before students have sufficient expertise for constructivist approaches to be introduced. Teachers who employ constructivist approaches alone are unlikely to provide optimal learning for their students.

Ineffective ITE places excess demand on costly and limited professional development

Teachers who are underprepared for the classroom during ITE later require professional development to meet their needs.

While this professional development does exist, it is limited and is often provided beyond the traditional, university-based ITE providers. It is also very costly to rely on professional development alone because it results in a significant delay in teachers accessing the knowledge needed to be effective from the start of teaching.

It's regularly outlined that the greatest need for professional development is in behaviour and classroom management. A greater focus on explicit instruction during ITE would significantly help beginning teachers maintain order, because many of the salient features of the pedagogy align with evidence-based behaviour management strategies.

Policymakers must ensure that evidencebased practices are included in ITE for prospective mathematics teachers

An effective Primary ITE programme would provide a graduate teacher with at least one unit dedicated to explicit instruction in the context of mathematics, and provide the tools to design and deliver curriculum and explicit instruction lessons that manage cognitive load and embed knowledge in students' long-term memories using strategies that are aligned with current evidence.

Content that would support beginning teachers to implement explicit instruction includes:

• Cognitive Load Theory and its applications.

- Strategies for gaining, maintaining and focusing student attention during whole-class instruction (e.g. choral response, student whiteboards, pair share).
- Questioning and checking for understanding.
- Explicit lesson design, including the use of worked examples.
- Strategies to facilitate spaced retrieval practice (e.g. Daily Review, Warm Ups).
- Practice breaking down complex skills into smaller instructional units.

The most effective quality assurance of ITE graduates is to directly observe their performance, and the practices of ITE providers.

While policymakers have introduced measures intended to improve alignment of ITE courses with evidence-based practice, it is clear from this analysis that it hasn't had the intended impact on ITE providers.

Rather than redesign their mathematics units to include evidence-based instructional approaches, some universities appear to have simply labelled constructivist approaches with the terms 'evidencebased' or 'research-based'.

An inspection approach may be the only reliable way to assess the quality of ITE programmes. To guide these inspections, a more detailed, specific framework should be developed; outlining exactly what should be taught in ITE, including the evidence-based practices listed above.

An inspection approach would, among others things, determine the effectiveness of ITE programmes based on assessment of preservice teachers' ability to implement explicit instruction, based on an agreed observational checklist or rubric.

Introduction

Despite decades of continuously increasing education funding, Australian student achievement trends in mathematics and numeracy are no better than mixed. Although some tests such as the Trends in International Maths and Science Study (TIMSS) and National Assessment Programme – Literacy and Numeracy (NAPLAN) show relatively static outcomes, achievement trends in the OECD's Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) have shown consistent declines.

PISA is one of the most, if not the most, important educational achievement measure available. Unlike TIMSS and NAPLAN — which are curriculum based — PISA measures competency in the fields assessed. Its relatively long time series and international significance, together with the fact that it is based on the achievement of students approaching schoolleaving age, make PISA crucial to assessing the performance of Australia's school system.

Student achievement in mathematics has been in steady decline for decades

Unfortunately, across all domains that are assessed, Australia's achievement decline in PISA is more consistent and steep than any other OECD country, other than Finland. The decline has been greatest in mathematics, with implications that extend to senior secondary and tertiary participation in mathematics.¹ The findings in the most recent round of PISA are particularly stark:

- Australian students' achievement fell to the equivalent of the OECD average for the first time;
- Compared to the average Australian student in 2003, an Australian student in 2018 is the equivalent of around 14 months behind; and
- 46 per cent of 15 year-olds don't achieve at the national standard of proficiency in mathematics.



Achievement trends in international and national assessments.

Source: Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) 2018 (15-year-olds), Trends in International Maths and Science Study (TIMSS) 2019 (average Year 4 and 8), and National Assessment Program – Literacy and Nuemracy (NAPLAN) 2021 (average Year 3, 5, 7, and 9).

There are a number of factors that have contributed to this decline. Perhaps the most important has to do with the flawed way maths is taught — both to prospective teachers at university, and to students in the classroom.

This paper provides a review of the teaching of mathematics in Australian classrooms. It will examine

how teachers are taught to teach mathematics and how closely those courses follow the evidence of best teaching practice. It will look at how flaws in Initial Teacher Education (ITE) flow through into poor practices in the classroom. Finally, it will make recommendations about how to improve ITE and how we teach mathematics in Australian Schools.

What is ITE?

Initial teacher education (ITE) is responsible for providing beginning teachers with the knowledge, skills, and characteristics to prepare them for the classroom. Typically, ITE involves beginning teachers enrolling and completing an undergraduate or postgraduate degree at a university by an approved ITE provider. In an ITE course, preservice teachers complete a combination of courses that include pedagogical, subject matter, and — in some cases subject-particular pedagogical knowledge. Enrolments are typically for either primary or secondary education.

There are 367 programmes, 48 ITE providers, and 91 locations preparing around 92,000 enrolled ITE students across Australia. Teaching graduates typically complete a standalone Bachelor of Education, or complete an undergraduate degree followed by a teaching course. Many more teachers now pursue two-year postgraduate teaching degrees, rather than one-year diplomas — with 39 per cent of graduating teachers having completed a postgraduate degree.² Less than half of enrolled ITE students complete their undergraduate degree.

More so than most other professions, the ITE sector is highly complex, with considerable overlapping federal and state and territory policies and regulations departments, along with compliance with professional, accreditation, and registration standards — all impacting on the work of prospective teachers, schools, and ITE providers.

In common with other countries,³ Australian policymakers have increasingly viewed improvements

to ITE as being necessary to improve education outcomes.⁴ This has been motivated by concern for the quality of the delivery of ITE, wider concerns for education system performance, and changing composition of the teacher workforce (including ongoing attrition of teachers).

However, the potential problems with ITE extend beyond competency of the system. Rather than a strict dedication to evidence-based practice, ideological preferences can shape ITE content. ⁵⁶⁷ In mathematics, this has meant a focus on 'constructivist', rather than 'instructivist' teaching approaches.⁸

Instructivists promote teacher-led, explicit instruction, while constructivists promote student-centred approaches that allow students to construct their own meaning and understanding. Moreover, instructivisits tend to stress an emphasis on developing students' procedural knowledge, while constructivists emphasise developing students' conceptual knowledge.

While both are ultimately essential for any student to succeed in mathematics, there are critical implications for how to teach based on each goal. An emphasis on procedural knowledge means more time and effort placed on rehearsing and memorising arithmetic facts and procedures. An emphasis on conceptual knowledge means more time and effort placed on the insights of how to solve problems and discovering the principles underlying problems.

As a result, teachers may not receive a full range of practices that will be effective in teaching all learners.

Box: Instructivists and constructivists in mathematics teaching

At the heart of the divide is the relative emphasis for teachers to place in providing students with *procedural* knowledge for mathematical problem-solving — largely through an *instructivist* approach, generally supported by a focus on rehearsing and memorising arithmetic facts and procedures — or on constructing students' *conceptual* knowledge — largely through *constructivist* teaching approaches, with a focus on providing students with insights into how to solve problems and discover the principles underlying problems.⁹

Constructivist approaches in mathematics are generally student-directed; motivated by a view that students should discover their own ways to solve open-ended problems — often through applied rather than abstract contexts — as the primary means of understanding core principles and the relationships among them.

Proponents argue that students with procedural knowledge alone may know rules, recognise arithmetic, and correctly carry out known procedures in familiar problems, but may be limited in correctly applying procedures to different or unfamiliar problems, struggle to draw connexions between concepts, and lack a 'deep' understanding of mathematical relationships. As a result, they label a focus on procedures as 'shallow teaching syndrome',¹⁰ that results in students lacking "curiosity, risk-taking, and negotiation."¹¹ Accordingly, they argue for greater emphasis for teachers on developing students' 'reasoning'.¹²

On the other hand, instructivists note that students who engage in inquiry, without sufficient foundational knowledge or procedural fluency, can become easily overwhelmed (among other reasons, due to excess cognitive load, as discussed further in a later section).¹³ This has led to the emphasis on ensuring foundations are properly established for students achieve 'procedural fluency' — the ability to retrieve and interpret familiar arithmetic, representations, number combinations, and the like from long-term memory (without drawing heavily on limited 'working memory'¹⁴).^{15 16}

How maths teaching is being taught in Australian ITE

In order to identify the contents of ITE programmes, an analysis of course outlines of Australian ITE courses was conducted, to identify which pedagogical practices are being emphasised in ITE Mathematics courses. This included analysis of key words that relate to relevant theory (such as constructivism, cognitive load theory) and teaching practices (such as inquiry, open-ended tasks, explicit instruction), as well as details of prescribed textbooks, where applicable.

The analysis was limited to undergraduate primary courses. The AITSL Approved Programmes search function was used to identify accredited courses. Information about the mathematics units in these courses was then collected from the website of each university. While some universities provided extensive detail about their units, others provided none. Units for which no information could be located were excluded from this review. Some mathematics units were solely dedicated to developing the mathematics knowledge of pre-service teachers as opposed to pedagogical knowledge.

There is virtually no evidence of explicit instruction being emphasised in ITE

Based on an analysis of 90 Mathematics units from the Bachelor of Education (Primary) courses of 31 universities, there is virtually no evidence of ITE where explicit instruction is clearly emphasised. Of the 31 universities, 27 clearly emphasise constructivist approaches, while 4 are either ambiguous or emphasise a range of teaching approaches. No mathematics units from any of the universities in the analysis appear to have a clear emphasis on explicit instruction.

There were just two mentions of explicit instruction and its associated terms across the 90 unit outlines analysed.

Of these mentions, however, there appears to remain a strong emphasis of constructivism. For instance, an assignment in one unit required pre-service teachers to plan a 5-week sequence of activities that included open-ended tasks, games, and "explicit teaching and learning experiences (*based on socio-constructivist learning approaches*)."¹⁷ Another unit outline listed direct/explicit instruction alongside other approaches and theories, including "constructivism, humanism, socio-constructivism and constructionism."¹⁸ This cursory treatment of explicit instruction is not sufficient to adequately prepare beginning teachers to implement the pedagogy.

There are many, and varied, references made to constructivist approaches in ITE

Analysis of key words used in ITE course outlines shows that the most commonly made references are to "real world/life", "inquiry", and "constructivism/ constructivist".

Count of key words found in examined ITE courses

	Courses	Units		Courses	U
constructivism/constructivist	6	11	explicit teaching	0	
inquiry	10	11	direct/ explicit instruction	2	
discovery	0	0	teacher-led/directed	0	
problem-based	7	7	worked examples	0	
student-centred	3	5	guided practice	0	
open-ended	7	7	retrieval practice	0	
real-world/life	9	12	cognitive load	0	
rich tasks	6	7	working memory	0	
games	4	4	long-term memory	0	
play	5	5	I do, we do, you do	0	

Analysis revealed that, much like the whole-language approach to beginning reading, constructivist approaches to teaching mathematics are referred to by a range of interchangeable terms. In addition to the term 'constructivist', the approach is also commonly labelled 'inquiry', 'student-centred' and /or 'problem-based'.

Several unit outlines do not make direct reference to constructivism or one of its synonyms; however, evidence that constructivist approaches are being privileged in these units can be found in the teaching and learning activities that are outlined. These include references to 'open-ended', 'rich' and 'real-life/world' tasks as well the use of 'play' and 'games'.

Keywords that are associated with explicit instruction are not found in the analysed course outlines. These include: worked examples; guided practice; retrieval practice; cognitive load; working/long term memory. As discussed in this paper, these are important terms for new teachers to know and be able to apply in the context of mathematics because they align closely with current understandings of human cognition and are practical strategies that have proven efficacy.

Some ITE courses are dismissive of explicit instruction and evidence-based practice in mathematics

Not only do ITE courses clearly not provide an emphasis on explicit instruction, there's also evidence that explicit instruction is disparaged in favour of constructivism.

For instance, one unit outline states: 'Students will develop capabilities as designers of learning, utilising authentic inquiry-based contexts'.¹⁹ Another unit outline states that pre-service teachers will: 'develop student-centred inclusive approaches for teaching mathematics in Foundation to Year 6.'²⁰ The use of this loaded language appears to imply that nonconstructivist approaches, such as explicit instruction, must be inauthentic and non-inclusive.

nits

Further analysis also finds that some ITE courses promote outdated ideas about how students learn. For instance, three universities make reference to developmental stages or theories. This is despite evidence that shows cognitive development does not progress through a fixed progression of age-related stages.²¹

In addition, two unit outlines from one university state that students have 'different learning styles' that must be catered for.²² ²³ This is despite conclusive evidence that, to the extent that students have particular learning styles, this should not influence the practice of educators²⁴ — particularly as this tends to reinforce a bias in processing information in one way or another. There is, in fact, no scientific evidence to support the claims and implications made by proponents of the 'learning styles' theories.²⁵ Despite this, educators frequently employ classroom practices to accommodate learning styles, and regularly misunderstand theories of learning with 'learning styles'.²⁶

A clear theme in the items recorded in course outlines is the use of strategies intended to increase the engagement of students.

While there is some evidence that when teachers more intensively aim to develop 'deeper learning' capabilities (such as critical thinking and collaboration), students may record higher levels of engagement and self-efficacy, there is no evidence of higher academic achievement in mathematics.²⁷

Relatedly, it is often claimed that promoting positive attitudes towards mathematics — typically through real-world applications, attempting to make maths more fun,²⁸ or introducing more word-based, rather than abstract, problems²⁹ — can drive improvements in student achievement. However, research has shown

that it is generally achievement that predicts attitudes toward mathematics, not the other way around.³⁰ Moreover, success in mathematics is found to beget further success and confidence in maths,³¹ including at an early age.^{32 33 34 35}

Another observation is the promotion of games and educational technology in ITE.

Game-based learning is inspired by constructivist theories — namely that students need experiential learning via social interaction with the environment and peers³⁶ — and is viewed by some as an alternative instructional approach.³⁷

However, the research shows that only some — but by no means all — applications and integration of technology into maths education is found to benefit students.³⁸ There is mixed evidence that educational technology applications are an effective support for students' learning^{39 40 41 42 43 44}, including low-achieving students,^{45 46} nor for substantially lifting motivations and attitudes to learning.⁴⁷ While there's some evidence that educational technology tends to suggest it may better to enable development of conceptual rather than procedural,⁴⁸ there is little documentation in ITE course outlines that teachers are developing the skills required to confidently provide students with procedural knowledge they will need as a precursor before use of technology for learning.

There is also evidence that educational technology applications, such as games, can result in students being less focussed on assigned learning tasks,⁴⁹ particularly beyond an initial novelty period.^{50 51} It's been observed that while some educational technology can offer some corrective feedback for students, a weakness is that practice opportunities are rarely matched with overt demonstrations and explanations of content that students need⁵² — implying that better incorporations of principles of explicit instruction would improve effectiveness of educational technology applications.^{53 54 55 56 57}

Prescribed textbooks for maths teachers promote constructivist teaching approaches

Supporting texts commonly used in ITE courses clearly promote constructivist approaches to teaching mathematics. For example, Helping Children Learn Mathematics by Reys et al., the most commonly prescribed textbook in the units that we studied, states:

'...there is a definite shift towards constructivist approaches. Learning is seen less as information being 'poured-in' through direct instruction, and more about the development of concepts and processes through facilitation of rich learning experiences.' (Page 30, 3rd ed.)

The second most commonly prescribed text, Teaching Primary Mathematics by Booker, Bond, Sparrow and Swan, also privileges constructivist approaches:

"When children construct their own mathematics, that knowledge is both personal and owned; something over which they have control so that their learning experiences empower them rather than leave them relying on procedures that have been developed by someone unknown, in response to problems that are no longer remembered, from a time and situation that no one can recall." (page 17, 5th ed.)

The rhetoric that surrounds constructivist approaches has seemingly contributed to a lack of progress towards approaches that are in line with current theoretical and empirical evidence.

There is no evidence in reviewed prescribed textbooks that explicit instruction is sufficiently described in detail.

Further problems with ITE in Australia

It is not just the course analysis above that should give rise to concerns over ITE in Australia. This analysis confirms a worrying trend identified in other areas as well.

Concerns about ITE extend beyond mathematics to other fundamental skills

Concerns for pre-service teachers' ability to teach reading⁵⁸ resulted in a 2019 report into the sector.⁵⁹ Examining 116 literacy units in 66 ITE degrees across 38 universities, the report found that only 4 per cent of ITE programs had a specific focus on early literacy and reading instruction. The vast majority allocated insufficient time and coursework to pedagogical strategies, leaving a substantial gap between knowledge and teaching in practice.

Moreover, the review found that most commonly prescribed textbooks in ITE programs often failed to provide information on effective, evidence-based pedagogy. In particular, content rarely specified five core elements of reading instruction: phonemic awareness; phonics; fluency; vocabulary; and comprehension. The findings reinforced the lack of rigour and limited extent of pedagogical knowledge and training provided by ITE programmes. In large part, ideological debates about how to effectively teach reading — commonly referred to as the 'reading wars' — contributed to the ITE landscape failing to properly embed evidencebased practices.

ITE is failing to prepare early career teachers

International surveys show Australia's teachers are generally less well prepared compared to other OECD countries, and especially compared to Singapore (see Figure below). At least partly, underprepared early career teachers contributes toward underperformance of Australian students, especially in mathematics.

ITE is of special interest because Australia has a larger proportion of early career teachers compared to most other countries. Around 24 per cent of Australian teachers have five years or fewer in experience, which is higher than the OECD average of 19 per cent. The biggest difference compared to other countries is that 40 per cent of teachers in rural areas are novice, compared to 21 per cent in the OECD.

Concerns remain despite repeated policy interventions in ITE

ITE has undergone a series of significant reforms over the past decade. By and large, this has centred on efforts to improve the 'quality' of *teachers*, and to a lesser extent, *teaching* quality.

Despite this attention from policymakers, many education academics reject the concerns about ITE quality⁶⁰ as a contributor to declines to education outcomes,⁶¹ and instead argue that it unnecessarily promotes a 'deficit framing' and 'negative discourse' around ITE.⁶²

A major development has been the Teacher Education Ministerial Advisory Group (TEMAG) in 2014, which committed to improvement in five key areas:⁶³

- stronger quality assurance of ITE programs;
- rigorous selection of entrants into initial teacher education;
- robust assessment of graduates;
- improved professional experience for pre-service teachers; and
- national research and workforce planning capabilities.

In 2015, the federal government established the Literacy and Numeracy Test for Initial Teacher Education Students (LANTITE).⁶⁴ The test has been introduced as the national means to ensure all beginning teachers meet the standard of achievement equivalent to the top 30 per cent of the adult population. While most teachers successfully pass LANTITE (84 per cent), 11 per cent fail to meet one of the two standards and 5 per cent meet neither.



Percentage of teachers who felt "well prepared" or "very well prepared" for the following elements from their ITE, Australia compared to Singapore and OECD average.

Source: Teachers and Learning International Survey (TALIS) 2018.

Another reform initiative is focussed on attracting high quality teacher candidates. In 2020, the High Achieving Teachers Program was introduced to offer alternative, including employment-based, pathways for individuals pursuing a career in education.⁶⁵

Some measures within TEMAG have specifically targeted the quality and preparedness of ITE graduates — teaching performance assessments (TPAs) and requirements for ITE providers to demonstrate evidence-based practices are reflected in their course offerings.

TPAs, introduced from 2019, are intended to assess 'classroom readiness' of preservice teachers. The TPA requires all pre-service teachers to demonstrate appropriate skills, knowledge and practices prior to graduation. While this is an important development in assessing preservice teachers' practice and knowledge, there are concerns that the TPA process has already become highly bureaucratic. For instance, it is reported there is a 5-to-10-year process to validate and refine a TPA, and there is a complex process aligning TPAs with regulatory requirements. Furthermore, TPAs rely largely on student teachers self-reflecting and collecting evidence of their positive impact on students (such as providing samples of students' work, lesson plans, and self-reflection notes), rather than more directly observing this impact.

A key recommendation of TEMAG, and the national accreditation requirements, is that evidence must underpin the teaching practices taught within the ITE programs. However, national standards and procedures provide only a broad direction for quality teaching (such as demonstrating expert content knowledge and pedagogical content knowledge), without a specific articulation of what effective pedagogical approaches entail.⁶⁶

Moreover, while the Australian Education Research Organisation (AERO) is tasked with "encouraging adoption and effective implementation of evidence in practice and policy", it is not clear there is any process that directly contributes to improving practice and knowledge for early career teachers, because there is no alignment between AERO and teacher training.

Since TEMAG, there has been some incremental improvements in ITE — with fewer low-ATAR course entrants, some consolidation of ITE programmes, and fewer underprepared teachers.⁶⁷ However, it is clear that policymakers remain rightly concerned about the sector.

Accordingly, in 2021, the federal government initiated a new Quality Initial Teaching Review. This has a twofold focus: first, better attracting and selecting high quality candidates into teaching, and second, better preparing graduates to be more effective teachers.

How maths is taught in Australian schools

It is perhaps unsurprising that the analysis of ITE courses aligns with evidence from international comparisons of dominant mathematics teaching practices — which find that Australian mathematics classrooms are more likely to favour constructivism rather than instructivism.⁶⁸

Australian policymakers have increasingly promoted inquiry-based approaches to mathematics against international trends The way maths is taught in schools can also be influenced by policymakers' decisions beyond initial teacher training alone.

The vast majority of Australian teachers report that they employ a mixed emphasis of approaches between explicit and inquiry-based — in teaching maths. However, by the age of 10, nearly 2.5 times more students receive instruction focussed on inquirybased methods compared to procedural instruction.



Teachers' reported emphasis in teaching mathematics, students aged 6-7, 10/11.

Source: Longitudinal Study of Australian Children (LSAC); K cohort; Wave 2, Wave 4.

The Australian Curriculum Assessment and Reporting Authority's (ACARA) proposed draft national curriculum, presented in 2021, has also firmly steered towards an inquiry-based approach. Among others, the proposed draft curriculum references to students learning "through the approaches for working mathematically, including modelling, investigation, experimentation and problem solving."

Within the National STEM School Strategy are several associated programmes that appear to heavily preference inquiry-based approaches to mathematics. Among them is *reSolve: Mathematics by Inquiry*. In this national programme, teaching resources and professional development to promote inquiry-based teaching of mathematics is provided to teachers. In addition, over 300 volunteer reSolve 'Champions' are engaged to "promote a spirit of inquiry in school mathematics."

This trend is contrasted by practices in some similar countries and other high-performing school schools.

Trends in the United Kingdom and the United States

In the United States and United Kingdom, major government reviews have generally encouraged policymakers and educators to increase the use of explicit instruction in mathematics.

For instance, as far back as 2008, the National Mathematics Advisory Panel in the United States recommended that all struggling students should receive at least some explicit instruction regularly and that all students should consistently receive some explicit instruction.

Around the same time, in Australia, however, COAG's 2008 National Numeracy Review Report recommended:⁶⁹ "greater emphasis be given to providing students with frequent exposure to higherlevel mathematical problems rather than routine procedural tasks, in contexts of relevance to them, with increased opportunities for students to discuss alternative solutions and explain their thinking."

Recently, in the United Kingdom, new analysis and recommendations from the Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services, and Skills (OFSTED) in 2021 has made the case for additional incorporation of explicit instruction, along with a greater emphasis on developing foundational, procedural mathematical knowledge.⁷⁰

Meanwhile, policymakers in the United Kingdom have taken a more direct approach to embedding expectations for the development of explicit instruction for graduate teachers during ITE. The Initial teacher training (ITT) framework specifically notes, for instance, that trainee teachers are advised to "introduce new material in steps and explicitly link new ideas to what has been previously studied," as well as specific reference for teachers to ensure "pupils have repeated opportunities to practice."

Trends in competing East-Asian nations

When comparing Australian maths lessons to those in Hong Kong, Australian lessons have been found to involve less teacher instructional time, more real-life connexions (rather than use of abstract, mathematical arithmetic only), less teacher-presented concurrent problem-solving, less use of procedures in problems, more reporting of solution results alone and less explicit making of connections, less time spent on repeating procedures, less time introducing and practicing new content, and more time spent on low complexity problems.⁷¹ Another study of Hong



Indicators of teacher-led instruction, reported by 15-year-old students, Australia vs participating Chinese school systems.

Source: OECD (2013). PISA 2012 Results: Ready to Learn (Volume III) Students' Engagement, Drive and Self-Beliefs, OECD Publishing, Paris.

Kong classrooms observed greater teacher-directed instruction, greater exposure to instructional content, more advanced content, longer duration problems, detailed explanations of solutions, and more coherent lessons, compared to other countries.⁷²

Compared to Singapore, Australian maths classrooms tend to practice more project-based and group activities, along with much higher use of technology for projects and classwork — all of which was associated with lower PISA scores for Australian students.⁷³

PISA data shows that Australian teachers, on average, are less likely to employ evidence-based explicit instruction practices, compared to high-performing Chinese school systems.

Compared to Taiwan, TALIS data shows that Australian teachers less frequently: present a summary of recently learned content; set goals at the beginning of a lesson; and explain how new and old topics are related. By contrast, Australian teachers more frequently: have students work on critical thinking tasks; work in small groups; provide larger projects to work on; and (much more frequently) use ICT for projects and class work.

Broader international comparisons of dominant teacher practice in mathematics show that Australia, like other Anglosphere countries, is labelled as favouring 'routine independence'.⁷⁴ Among the characteristics of countries included in this category are:

• Low frequency of listening to the teacher explain how to solve problems.

- Low priority to memorisation of rules, procedures and facts.
- High frequency of independent/group work.
- Low use of textbooks as the basis for instruction, instead relying on a variety of resources.
- High frequency of time addressing routine problems and comparatively little spent on complex problem solving.
- Written assessments and quizzes are used relatively infrequently.

This is contrasted with most East Asian countries, mostly labelled as favouring a 'learn, repeat, and check' method.⁷⁵ Characteristics of countries in this group include:

- High frequency of listening to the teacher and watching demonstrations of problem solving.
- High frequency of independent working and applying procedures to solve routine problems.
- Lower frequencies than other countries for explaining answers, relating to learning to daily lives or finding own solutions to complex problems.
- Testing is used fairly frequently.

In sum, there is increased emphasis in wider education policy in Australia to promote inquiry-based approaches in mathematics. ITE reform does not happen in a vacuum, with these wider developments clearly impacting on the ITE sector and early career teachers' practices.

How maths should be taught in Australian schools

A wide range of evidence — from experimental laboratory studies, correlational studies based on student achievement, and practice-based evaluations from classrooms — has demonstrated the effectiveness of explicit instruction approaches, especially in mathematics.

Overall effect sizes for explicit instruction are meaningfully large^{76 77} — with studies finding very large effects of d=1.14 ⁷⁸ and $(g=1.22)^{79}$, as well as moderate, but still significant, effects of d=0.57, $d=0.46^{80}$, $d=0.38^{81}$ — with some variation across different effect sizes across different age groups⁸² and content areas⁸³.

This evidence base has most consistently found largest benefits for students with learning difficulties^{8485 86 87}, and those academically at risk.^{88 89} ^{90 91 92 93 94} However, the research increasingly shows that the benefits of explicit instruction aren't limited to these students⁹⁵, but some practice is generalisable to all students.^{96 97 98}

A critical conclusion emerging in the literature is that, even though students with mathematical difficulties tend to experience especially large effects from teacher-directed approaches (compared to alternatives), the same approaches are at least as effective, if not more so (compared to alternatives), for students *without* mathematical difficulties.⁹⁹ In other words, this provides strong justification for teachers to employ explicit instruction, not only for struggling learners, but for all learners.

To date, the application of explicit instruction in mathematics (and STEM more broadly¹⁰⁰) has failed to gain the same level of attention from educators and policymakers as reading has over recent decades. ¹⁰¹ In part, this is because many more mathematics teachers often lack the resources and knowledge of how to effectively provide explicit instruction¹⁰² and meet the needs of struggling learners in mathematics.¹⁰³ ¹⁰⁴

Evidence shows a greater emphasis on explicit instruction would improve student outcomes

Evidence from correlational studies has found that students who receive mostly teacher-directed (with some student-directed) teaching record the highest achievement.^{105 106} At the very least, there is also no evidence that mostly inquiry-based instruction is associated with any greater achievement overall.¹⁰⁷

It is estimated that average PISA scores would increase by the equivalent of around 10 months of schooling, by the age of 15, if students received teacher-led instruction in most or all lessons, and only some student-directed instruction. The same analysis shows that students, on the other hand, who receive inquiry-based instruction in many or all lessons, but teacher-led instruction in none or only some lessons fall over two years of schooling behind. That is, there is significant room to improve overall student achievement in PISA by ensuring all students benefit from teacher-directed instruction in most or all classes.

Other analysis from international assessments shows that students who receive more memorisation and lecture-style teaching in mathematics record higher achievement, while students who receive more daily life examples of content record lower achievement.¹⁰⁸

OECD research provides further insight by identifying different effects of teacher-directed instruction based on the nature of problems students are required to solve. For instance, greater exposure to teacher-directed instruction is associated with more success in solving simpler problems, but receiving teacher-directed instruction alone is associated with lower success in solving difficult problems.¹¹¹ Accordingly, this implies that most students will benefit most when there is at least some dosage of inquiry-based approaches.

The practice of evidence-based explicit instruction in mathematics

While it's becoming increasingly recognised that there are benefits of explicit instruction as a complete set of practices,¹¹² researchers have also sought to identify the relative benefits of each specific component of explicit instruction.¹¹³ ¹¹⁴ ¹¹⁵ ¹¹⁶ This has produced evidence of several practices teachers can be confident in applying in classrooms.

Clear teacher demonstrations that manage cognitive load

Effective teacher demonstrations provide concise and unambiguous presentation of concepts and stepby-step models of how to perform operations, along with reasons for the procedures.¹¹⁷ This frequently takes place at the beginning of lessons and involves the teacher explicitly verbalising the steps to solve mathematical problems.¹¹⁸ ¹¹⁹ ¹²⁰

Making the thought process public helps to ensure all students have the best chance of understanding the process of solving a problem.¹²¹ Research suggests that students learn best when more explanations are provided for why certain steps are required during an example rather than presenting the solution steps alone.¹²² It also appears that demonstrating a series of easy and hard problems with numerous examples is beneficial.¹²³ A clear contrast is found with inquiry

approaches, which tend to downplay the role of the teacher in leading demonstrations.

The reasons that well-executied teacher demonstration is critical for students' learning are outlined in the understanding of cognitive load theory.¹²⁴ Simply put, learning is impeded when working memory — which is severely limited in duration and capacity — is overloaded. Constructivist approaches — because of the emphasis on initiating with exploration and the like — routinely impose a significant burden on working memory. Accordingly, there is strong evidence that new and complex material must be properly sequenced for students with explicit instruction preceding students' inquiry, rather than the other way around.¹²⁵ ¹²⁶

Guided, scaffolded practice with student verbalisation to develop students' proficiency

Guided practice (as opposed to students' independent practice) involves teachers asking students to communicate the strategies they are using to complete each step of the process and provide reasons for their decisions.¹²⁷ ¹²⁸ Practice opportunities can involve students completing written exercises, manipulating visual representations, and the like. Research on mathematics instruction indicates that frequent, well-designed, guided practice opportunities help students to attain automaticity with essential skills and procedures.

There's also evidence that 'more is better' when it comes to student opportunities to practice (rather than an implied assumption that there is a 'Goldilocks' amount of student practice¹²⁹). There is some evidence to suggest that differentiating how teachers introduce practice opportunities (such as: "Say it with me, we solved this problem by ...") can assist in students' learning.¹³⁰ For some domains of maths learning, higher speed practice — such as quick responses and use of efficient counting procedures is slightly more effective than non-speeded practice, where relations and principles are reinforced.131 And, generally, increasing the rate of individual response opportunities during core mathematics instruction is found to better support early development of mathematical proficiency.132

Importantly, teachers should ask students to explain their solutions and to think aloud in solving problems. Compared to students who attempt to solve problems silently, those that verbalise their steps demonstrate better learning.¹³³ There's also evidence that students learn better when they verbalise responses back to teachers' questions.¹³⁴

There is strong evidence that student verbalisation during practice can be highly effective when done as a group — in part because it supports the development of a shared language around mathematical problem solving.¹³⁵ When properly orchestrated, group student

practice opportunities provide multiple students the opportunity to practice in unison. Choral responses can effectively engage all students in practice opportunities simultaneously.¹³⁶ Moreover, some research suggests that group practice is as effective, if not more effective, than individual practice in small groups — possibly because struggling learners may be disinclined and less confident to participate when in smaller groups.¹³⁷

For the greatest instructional effectiveness, guided practice is a highly interactive process, involving the teacher working with students in a way to move them gradually towards independence. This process of scaffolding involves the transfer of control for problem solving from the teacher to the student.¹³⁸ ¹³⁹ After solving problems together, students gradually complete more steps with decreasing guidance from the teacher, until students are ready to independently practice content.¹⁴⁰

A specific instructional strategy that can be implemented during guided practice is worked examples.¹⁴¹ ¹⁴² ¹⁴³ ¹⁴⁴ ¹⁴⁵Two types of worked examples are worked example-problem pairs¹⁴⁶ and faded worked examples.¹⁴⁷ Both approaches follow contemporary theory and are well supported in empirical evidence.¹⁴⁸

When learning relatively unfamiliar mathematics content, explicit instruction is clearly superior to constructivist approaches. However, with increased familiarity, the advantage decreases, then disappears and finally reverses.¹⁴⁹ Constructivist approaches that emphasise students' inquiry are suitable only after students have developed a level of expertise so their working memories are not overloaded when solving problems.

Immediate corrective feedback to clarify and correct students

Immediate corrective feedback from teachers to students involves clarifying what students have done correctly and what they need to improve, based on students' attempts to solve academic problems.¹⁵⁰ Corrective feedback can, and should, also include reteaching or clarifying instructions when students are not able to respond to questions or their responses are incorrect.

Where possible, teachers should also provide opportunities for students to correct their errors especially with teacher support in guiding them to solve a problem correctly, often by asking simpler sub-questions. Another effective strategy is for teachers to first model an appropriate response if a student makes an error, then prompt students to correct the response; in turn, reinforcing the steps to solving the problem again.¹⁵¹

Research shows that corrective feedback is most effective for low-knowledge learners and in

addressing procedural — more so than conceptual — outcomes,¹⁵² but is generally highly impactful for all students (d=0.7).¹⁵³ There is evidence that high rates of feedback appear to result in better student learning, whether or not that feedback is corrective or affirming.¹⁵⁴

By contrast, unguided inquiry encourages making mistakes and discourages correction. Based on the underlying constructivist approach toward pedagogy, student-led inquiry is considered critical to the learning process — meaning that students should be encouraged to try, and to fail, in the pursuit of solving problems and understanding concepts. Accordingly, it's argued that one way to improve teaching of mathematics is to change teachers' attitudes toward `mistake culture', so that making mistakes isn't a disincentive to students.¹⁵⁵

Spaced and interleaved practice to facilitate cumulative review

Cumulative review involves students being provided the opportunity to practice — including through reteaching and retesting — information previously covered.^{156 157 158} Research shows that this review activity can ensure knowledge is maintained over time and helps students see connexions between various mathematical ideas¹⁵⁹ — including weekly and month review. This is contrasted with daily review activity, which focusses on students 'overlearning' basic and foundational material — particularly when it is to be drawn on subsequently in a lesson — so it is readily recalled automatically by students. $^{\rm 160}$

However, instructional choices to promote review — particularly whether reteaching or retesting should be prioritised — should be informed by the complexity of information involved.¹⁶¹ Generally, more complex content should involve reteaching first, followed by retesting, but for more basic facts and skills, retesting is suitable for retrieval practice.

Two evidence-based approaches to effectively facilitate cumulative review are spaced¹⁶² and interleaved practice.¹⁶³ Both practices are employed to avoid excessive reliance on 'blocking' — continually practising similar content in one block — but work through different cognitive processes.¹⁶⁴

Spacing deliberately leaves gaps between practice, in part to recover working memory, as well as an opportunity to partially forget, then recall the information as required. Generally, spacing involves practice of the same information over time. Interleaving involves not only spacing out practice, but also mixing up how information is ordered across different topics.¹⁶⁵ Generally, interleaving involves spacing practice out over time, but with different information across time.

By contrast, inquiry approaches encourage students to explore and make connexions between concepts themselves through their own reflexion, rather than requiring teachers to provide cumulative review activities.

How ITE should be managed

While policymakers have introduced measures intended to improve alignment of ITE courses with evidence-based practice, it is clear from this analysis that it hasn't had the intended impact on ITE providers.

Although Teacher Performance Assessments and ITE Accreditation procedures might be rigorous, the standards that are used to judge ITE programmes are vague and open to interpretation. This means that many ITE courses may notionally meet requirements based on compliance with formalities on paper.

It appears that current ITE assessment procedures appear to have only resulted in ITE providers making tokenistic changes to their programmes rather than the meaningful improvements to practices. Standard 2 of AITSL's Accreditation of Initial Teacher Education Programs in Australia: Standards and Procedures document states:

Evidence must underpin all elements of initial teacher education, from the design and delivery of programs to the teaching practices taught within programs. Evidence is the basis on which panels make accreditation recommendations.

Our analysis shows that some universities, rather than redesign their mathematics units to include evidencebased instructional approaches, appear to have simply labelled constructivist approaches with the terms 'evidence-based' or 'research-based'.

An inspection approach may be the only reliable way to assess the quality of ITE programmes. To guide these inspections, a more detailed, specific framework should be developed which outlines exactly what should be taught in ITE, including the evidence-based practices listed in this paper.

An inspection approach would, among others benefits, determine the effectiveness of ITE programmes based on assessment of preservice teachers' ability to implement explicit instruction, based on an agreed observational checklist or rubric.

Box: ITE inspection in the United Kingdom

ITE providers are inspected for the quality of their curriculum and training annually by the external evaluation agency, the Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (OFSTED).The annual inspection consists of a four-day onsite visit — involving observations and interactions with various stakeholders such as programme leaders, trainers, trainees, mentors and employers. ITE program's overall effectiveness is graded on a four-point scale: from inadequate through to outstanding.

The quality of education and training is assessed on the basis of the ITE curriculum, training on pedagogical approaches and assessment of trainees. The assessment includes examining the knowledge and skills taught by the program, how it is being taught, and whether preservice teachers can apply the learnt knowledge and skills into practice. ITE providers must also demonstrate that their curriculum is carefully crafted and based on scientific evidence.

Conclusion

Policymakers and educators alike have demonstrated growing concern about the quality of the ITE sector over recent years. The analysis in this paper validates this concern and puts a specific lens on ITE for beginning mathematics teachers. A special emphasis on mathematics is justified given the trajectory of student outcomes and the need to further develop the mathematics teacher workforce in light of current shortages.

Despite clear evidence of the efficacy of explicit instruction, it is not practiced consistently and regularly in Australia's mathematics classrooms. The analysis shows that high-performing countries more frequently apply the principles and priorities consistent with explicit instruction.

It is clear that a lack of explicit instruction contained in ITE contributes to a lack of explicit instruction in the classroom. For Australian students' mathematics outcomes to improve, ITE must improve with it. For this reason, ITE providers require clear and unambiguous expectations for genuinely incorporating evidence-based practices into their mathematics ITE courses.

Content that would support beginning teachers to implement explicit instruction includes:

- Cognitive Load Theory and its applications.
- Strategies for gaining, maintaining and focusing student attention during whole-class instruction

(e.g. choral response, student whiteboards, pair share).

- Questioning and checking for understanding.
- Explicit lesson design including the use of worked examples.
- Strategies to facilitate spaced retrieval practice (e.g. Daily Review, Warm Ups).
- Practice breaking down complex skills into smaller instructional units.

For policymakers to better validate that ITE courses contain sufficient content, observations should be made of performance and capability of graduating teachers to demonstrate relevant practices. Some examples of practices that teachers should be able to demonstrate on completion of mathematics ITE include:

- Clear teacher demonstrations that recognise implications of cognitive load.
- Guided, scaffolded practice opportunities that allow students to students to verbalise.
- Immediate corrective feedback to clarify and confirm students' progress.
- Spaced and interleaved practice to facilitate cumulative review of content.

Appendix

Table A1. Key words identified in ITE course outlines.

ALPHACRUCIS COLLEGE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	CRS214	ConstructivismDirect / explicit instruction
ALPHACRUCIS COLLEGE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	CRS314	Social constructionStudent-centred
AUSTRALIAN CATHOLIC UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDMA290	
AUSTRALIAN CATHOLIC UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	NMBR141	Real world situations
AUSTRALIAN CATHOLIC UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDMA291	 Inclusive mathematics pedagogy Open-ended tasks Inquiry based learning Real life contexts Games Explicit teaching Socio-constructivist
CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education Primary	EMA100	
CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education Primary	ESC300	Real-world problems
CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education Primary	EMA200	Rich tasksOpen-ended questions
CHARLES STURT UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Teaching (Primary)	EMM410	Constructivist principlesStage appropriate tasks
CHARLES STURT UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Teaching (Primary)	EMM418	Constructivist principlesOpen-ended problems
CHRISTIAN HERITAGE COLLEGE	Bachelor of Primary Education	CR161	
CHRISTIAN HERITAGE COLLEGE	Bachelor of Primary Education	CR262	Real-world contextsGamesReal-world problemInquiry
CURTIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Education)	EDUC1031	Constructivist approaches
CURTIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Education)	EDPR2004	 Social constructivist approaches

CURTIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Education)	EDPR3000	Social constructivist approach toSocial cultural theories
CURTIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Education)	EDPR4000	
DEAKIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	SIT106	
DEAKIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ESM211	
DEAKIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ESM310	
DEAKIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ESM410	Authentic problem-solving experiences
EDITH COWAN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	MAE1250	
EDITH COWAN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	CUR6020	
EDITH COWAN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	MPE6105	• Games
FEDERATION UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDBED1012	Real world problems
FEDERATION UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDBED3112	
FEDERATION UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDBED4111	 Real world contexts Inquiry
FLINDERS UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary), Bachelor of Arts	EDUC2422	
FLINDERS UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary), Bachelor of Arts	EDUC3625	
GRIFFITH UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education	2091EDN	
GRIFFITH UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education	2092EDN	
GRIFFITH UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education	4091EDN	Real-life situations
LA TROBE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU1LNU	
LA TROBE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU2TPM	
LA TROBE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU4MFU	
MACQUARIE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education Primary and Bachelor of Psychology	EDST2110	
MACQUARIE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education Primary and Bachelor of Psychology	EDST3110	Inquiry-based models

MONASH	Bachelor of Education (Honours) in Primary Education	EDF1065	 Rich teaching and learning experiences
	Pachelor of Education (Honours) in		Open-ended tasks
MONASH	Primary Education	EDF2066	 Student-centred inclusive approaches
MONACU	Bachelor of Education (Honours) in		Student-centred inclusive approaches
ΜΟΝΑΣΠ	Primary Education	EDF3067	• Inquiry-based
MONASH	Bachelor of Education (Honours) in Primary Education	EDF4075	• Student-centred inclusive approaches
MURDOCH UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Teaching)	EDN351	• Enable children to construct the knowledge
MURDOCH UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Teaching)	EDN3102	
QUT	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EUB111	 Real world contexts Play
QUT	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EUB208	
OUT	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EUB307	• Inquiry
	、 <i>…</i>		Real world
DMIT	Pachalar of Education		Open-ended questions
KMIT		ICHE2456	Games
RMIT	Bachelor of Education	TCHE2479	• Problem solving tasks
RMIT	Bachelor of Education	TCHE2489	
RMIT	Bachelor of Education	TCHE2348	Inquiry-oriented approachRich
SOUTHERN CROSS UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Arts/Bachelor of Education (Primary)	MATH1002	
SOUTHERN CROSS UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Arts/Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC2014	
SOUTHERN CROSS UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Arts/Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC3012	
SWINBURNE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU10003	PlayReal world
SWINBURNE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU20002	
SWINBURNE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU30066	
UNIVERSITY OF CANBERRA	Bachelor of Primary Education	9864.3	

UNIVERSITY OF CANBERRA	Bachelor of Primary Education	9883.2	Learning styles
UNIVERSITY OF CANBERRA	Bachelor of Primary Education	9888.2	Learning styles
UNIVERSITY OF NEW ENGLAND	Bachelor of Education (K-6 Teaching)	EDME145	
UNIVERSITY OF NEW ENGLAND	Bachelor of Education (K-6 Teaching)	EDME358	 Student-centred Developmental teaching theories Investigative activities
UNIVERSITY OF NEW ENGLAND	Bachelor of Education (K-6 Teaching)	EDME369	 Developmental learning sequences
UNIVERSITY OF NEWCASTLE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	MATH1900	Real world contexts.
UNIVERSITY OF NEWCASTLE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC2749	
UNIVERSITY OF NEWCASTLE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC3055	PlayProblem based learning
UNIVERSITY OF QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC1720	 Problem-solving approach Real-world
UNIVERSITY OF QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC2730	
UNIVERSITY OF QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC3720	Authentic and open-ended
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA	Bachelor of Primary Education	167268	
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA	Bachelor of Primary Education	167263	 Children's construction of mathematical and science understanding Inquiry based learning
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA	Bachelor of Primary Education	167541	
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA	Bachelor of Primary Education	150267	 Play Constructivist perspectives
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EHM1200	
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDX3280	
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EPM4100	

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EPS2008	Inquiry-basedProblem-based learning
UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUP1015	
UNIVERSITY OF TASMANIA	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EPR220	Rich tasksProblem solvingAppropriate pedagogies
UNIVERSITY OF TASMANIA	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EPR320	Appropriate pedagogies
UNIVERSITY OF WOLLONGONG	Bachelor of Education	EDMM101	• Problem solving strategies
UNIVERSITY OF WOLLONGONG	Bachelor of Education	MATH132	
UNIVERSITY OF WOLLONGONG	Bachelor of Education	EDKM201	
UNIVERSITY OF WOLLONGONG	Bachelor of Education	EDKM202	• Rich mathematical activities
VICTORIA UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (P-12)	EEC2105	Rich tasksOpen questions
VICTORIA UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (P-12)	EEC4109	
EASTERN COLLEGE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ES611	
EASTERN COLLEGE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ES718	
EASTERN COLLEGE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ES713	
UNIVERSITY SUNSHINE COAST	Bachelor of Primary Education	EDU118	Play-basedInquiry
UNIVERSITY SUNSHINE COAST	Bachelor of Primary Education	EDU209	
UNIVERSITY SUNSHINE COAST	Bachelor of Primary Education	EDU400	 Inquiry based learning experiences

Table A2. Prescribed texts identified in ITE course outlines.

ALPHACRUCIS COLLEGE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	CRS214			
ALPHACRUCIS COLLEGE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	CRS314			
AUSTRALIAN CATHOLIC UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDMA290			
AUSTRALIAN CATHOLIC UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	NMBR141			
AUSTRALIAN CATHOLIC UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDMA291			
CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education Primary	EMA100	Simeon, D., Beswick, K., Brady, K., Faragher, R., & Warren, E. (2011). Teaching mathematics: Foundations to middle years.		
CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education Primary	ESC300	Skamp, K. and Preston, C. (2015). Teaching primary science constructively. 5th ed.		
CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education Primary	EMA200	Mason , J. & Johnston - Wilder , S. (2006) Designing and Using Mathematical Tasks		
CHARLES STURT UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Teaching (Primary)	EMM410	Jorgensen, R & Dole, S., (2020) Teaching mathematics in primary schools: principles for effective practice	Van de Walle, J.A., Karp, K.A., & Bay-Williams, J.M. (2013). Elementary and middle school mathematics: Teaching developmentally	Cathcart, G (2015) Learning mathematics in elementary and middle schools : a learner- centered approach
CHARLES STURT UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Teaching (Primary)	EMM418	Simeon, D., Beswick, K., Brady, K., Faragher, R., & Warren, E. (2011). Teaching mathematics: Foundations to middle years.		
CHRISTIAN HERITAGE COLLEGE	Bachelor of Primary Education	CR161			
CHRISTIAN HERITAGE COLLEGE	Bachelor of Primary Education	CR262			
CURTIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Education)	EDUC1031	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics		

CURTIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Education)	EDPR2004	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics		
CURTIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Education)	EDPR3000	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics		
CURTIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Education)	EDPR4000	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics		
DEAKIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	SIT106	John Mason, Leone Burton, K. C. Stacey Thinking mathematically		
DEAKIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ESM211	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics	Sullivan, P. (2018) Challenging mathematical tasks: unlocking the potential of all students	
DEAKIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ESM310	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics	Booker, G., Bond, D., Briggs, J., Sparrow, L., & Swan, P. (2014). Teaching primary mathematics (5th ed.).	
DEAKIN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ESM410	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics	Booker, G., Bond, D., Briggs, J., Sparrow, L., & Swan, P. (2014). Teaching primary mathematics (5th ed.).	
EDITH COWAN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	MAE1250	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics	Budgen, F., & West, J. (2019) Foundations of Primary Mathematics Education: An Introduction	
EDITH COWAN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	CUR6020			

EDITH COWAN UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	MPE6105	Budgen, F., & West, J. (2019) Foundations of Primary Mathematics Education: An Introduction	Serow, P., Callingham, R. and Muir, T. (2019) Primary Mathematics: Integrating Theory with Practice	
FEDERATION UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDBED1012	Booker, G., Bond, D., Briggs, J., Sparrow, L., & Swan, P. (2014). Teaching primary mathematics (5th ed.).		
FEDERATION UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDBED3112			
FEDERATION UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDBED4111			
FLINDERS UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary), Bachelor of Arts	EDUC2422	Van de Walle, J.A., Karp, K.A., & Bay-Williams, J.M. (2013). Elementary and middle school mathematics: Teaching developmentally (8th ed.). Boston, MA : Pearson.		
FLINDERS UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary), Bachelor of Arts	EDUC3625			
GRIFFITH UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education	2091EDN			
GRIFFITH UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education	2092EDN	Jorgensen, R & Dole, S., (2020) Teaching mathematics in primary schools: principles for effective practice		
GRIFFITH UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education	4091EDN			
LA TROBE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU1LNU			
LA TROBE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU2TPM	Booker, G., Bond, D., Briggs, J., Sparrow, L., & Swan, P. (2014). Teaching primary mathematics (5th ed.).		
LA TROBE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU4MFU	Booker, G., Bond, D., Briggs, J., Sparrow, L., & Swan, P. (2014). Teaching primary mathematics (5th ed.).		

MACQUARIE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education Primary and Bachelor of Psychology	EDST2110		
MACQUARIE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education Primary and Bachelor of Psychology	EDST3110		
MONASH	Bachelor of Education (Honours) in Primary Education	EDF1065		
MONASH	Bachelor of Education (Honours) in Primary Education	EDF2066		
MONASH	Bachelor of Education (Honours) in Primary Education	EDF3067		
MONASH	Bachelor of Education (Honours) in Primary Education	EDF4075		
MURDOCH UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Teaching)	EDN351	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics	
MURDOCH UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary Teaching)	EDN3102		
QUT	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EUB111		
QUT	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EUB208		
QUT	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EUB307		
RMIT	Bachelor of Education	TCHE2458		
RMIT	Bachelor of Education	TCHE2479		

RMIT	Bachelor of Education	TCHE2489	Simeon, D., Beswick, K., Brady, K., Faragher, R., & Warren, E. (2011). Teaching mathematics: Foundations to middle years.		
RMIT	Bachelor of Education	TCHE2348			
SOUTHERN CROSS UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Arts/Bachelor of Education (Primary)	MATH1002	Angel, AR, Abbott, CD & Runde, DC, 2019, Foundations: mathematics and numeracy,		
SOUTHERN CROSS UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Arts/Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC2014	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics		
SOUTHERN CROSS UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Arts/Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC3012	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics		
SWINBURNE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU10003			
SWINBURNE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU20002	Brady, K. & Winn, T., (2017). Maths skills for success at university.		
SWINBURNE UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDU30066			
UNIVERSITY OF CANBERRA	Bachelor of Primary Education	9864.3	Brady, K. & Winn, T., (2017). Maths skills for success at university.	Simeon, D., Beswick, K., Brady, K., Faragher, R., & Warren, E. (2011). Teaching mathematics: Foundations to middle years.	Peter Sullivan, Pat Lilburn (2017) Open Ended Maths Activities
UNIVERSITY OF CANBERRA	Bachelor of Primary Education	9883.2	Simeon, D., Beswick, K., Brady, K., Faragher, R., & Warren, E. (2011). Teaching mathematics: Foundations to middle years.	Sullivan, P., Lilburn, P. (2017) Open Ended Maths Activities	
UNIVERSITY OF CANBERRA	Bachelor of Primary Education	9888.2	Simeon, D., Beswick, K., Brady, K., Faragher, R., & Warren, E. (2011). Teaching mathematics: Foundations to middle years.	Sullivan, P., Lilburn, P. (2017) Open Ended Maths Activities	

UNIVERSITY OF NEW ENGLAND	Bachelor of Education (K-6 Teaching)	EDME145	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics	
UNIVERSITY OF NEW ENGLAND	Bachelor of Education (K-6 Teaching)	EDME358	Serow, P., Callingham, R. and Muir, T., Cambridge University Press 3rd ed. 2019 Primary Mathematics: Integrating Theory with Practice	
UNIVERSITY OF NEW ENGLAND	Bachelor of Education (K-6 Teaching)	EDME369	Van de Walle, J.A., Karp, K.A., & Bay-Williams, J.M. (2013). Elementary and middle school mathematics: Teaching developmentally (8th ed.). Boston, MA : Pearson.	
UNIVERSITY OF NEWCASTLE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	MATH1900		
UNIVERSITY OF NEWCASTLE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC2749		
UNIVERSITY OF NEWCASTLE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC3055		
UNIVERSITY OF QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC1720	Haylock, D., & Manning, R 2018, Mathematics Explained for Primary Teachers,,	
UNIVERSITY OF QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC2730	Van de Walle, J.A., Karp, K.A., & Bay-Williams, J.M. (2013). Elementary and middle school mathematics: Teaching developmentally (8th ed.). Boston, MA : Pearson.	
UNIVERSITY OF QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUC3720	Van de Walle, J.A., Karp, K.A., & Bay-Williams, J.M. (2013). Elementary and middle school mathematics: Teaching developmentally (8th ed.). Boston, MA : Pearson.	

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA	Bachelor of Primary Education	167268	Van de Walle, J.A., Karp, K.A., & Bay-Williams, J.M. (2013). Elementary and middle school mathematics: Teaching developmentally (8th ed.). Boston, MA : Pearson.		
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA	Bachelor of Primary Education	167263	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics		
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA	Bachelor of Primary Education	167541	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics		
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA	Bachelor of Primary Education	150267	Van de Walle, J.A., Karp, K.A., & Bay-Williams, J.M. (2013). Elementary and middle school mathematics: Teaching developmentally (8th ed.). Boston, MA : Pearson.	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics	
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EHM1200	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics		
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDX3280	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics		
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EPM4100			
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN QUEENSLAND	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EPS2008	Booker, G., Bond, D., Briggs, J., Sparrow, L., & Swan, P. (2014). Teaching primary mathematics (5th ed.).	Haylock, D., & Manning, R. (2018) Mathematics Explained for Primary Teachers	Reys, R.E., Lindquist, M.M., Lambdin, D.V., Smith, N.L., Rogers, A., Falle, J., Frid, S., & Bennett, S. (2019). Helping children learn mathematics
UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EDUP1015			

UNIVERSITY OF TASMANIA	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EPR220		
UNIVERSITY OF TASMANIA	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	EPR320		
UNIVERSITY OF WOLLONGONG	Bachelor of Education	EDMM101		
UNIVERSITY OF WOLLONGONG	Bachelor of Education	MATH132		
UNIVERSITY OF WOLLONGONG	Bachelor of Education	EDKM201		
UNIVERSITY OF WOLLONGONG	Bachelor of Education	EDKM202	Booker, G., Bond, D., Briggs, J., Sparrow, L., & Swan, P. (2014). Teaching primary mathematics (5th ed.).	
VICTORIA UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (P-12)	EEC2105		
VICTORIA UNIVERSITY	Bachelor of Education (P-12)	EEC4109		
EASTERN COLLEGE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ES611		
EASTERN COLLEGE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ES718		
EASTERN COLLEGE	Bachelor of Education (Primary)	ES713		
UNIVERSITY SUNSHINE COAST	Bachelor of Primary Education	EDU118	Goos, M., Geiger, V., Dole, S., Forgasz, H., & Bennison, A. (2019). Numeracy Across the Curriculum	
UNIVERSITY SUNSHINE COAST	Bachelor of Primary Education	EDU209	Jorgensen, R & Dole, S., (2020) Teaching mathematics in primary schools: principles for effective practice	
UNIVERSITY SUNSHINE COAST	Bachelor of Primary Education	EDU400	Jorgensen, R & Dole, S., (2020) Teaching mathematics in primary schools: principles for effective practice	

Endnotes

- 1 Sikora, J. and Pitt, D. G. (2019). Does advanced mathematics help students enter university more than basic mathematics? Gender and returns to year 12 mathematics in Australia, *Mathematics Education Research*, 31, pp. 197-218.
- 2 AITSL (2020). National Initial Teacher Education Pipeline. Melbourne: AITSL.
- 3 OECD (2019). A flying start: Improving initial teacher preparation systems, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- 4 McMahon, M.; Forde, C.; and Dickson, B. (2015). Reshaping teacher education through the professional continuum, *Educational Review*, 67 (2), pp. 158-178.
- 5 Sullivan, P. (2011). Teaching mathematics : using research-informed strategies, *Australian Education Review*, 59, Australian Council for Educational Research.
- 6 Becker, J. and Jacob, B. (2000). The politics of California school mathematics: The anti-reform of 1997-99, *Phi Delta Kappa*, 81 (7), pp. 527-539.
- 7 Schoenfeld, A. H. (2004). The Math Wars, *Educational Policy*, 18 (1), pp. 253-286.
- 8 Zhang, L.; Kirschner, P. A.; Cobern, W. W.; and Sweller, J. (2021). There is an Evidence Crisis in Science Educational Policy, *Educational Psychology Review*, in print, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-021-09646-1
- 9 Ansari, D. (2016). No More Math Wars, *Education Digest*, 81 (7), pp. 4-9.
- 10 Stacey, K.(2003). The need to increase attention to mathematical reasoning, in: Hollingsworth, H.; Lokan, J.; and McCrae, B., *Teaching Mathematics in Australia: Results from the TIMSS 1999 Video Study* (pp119–122). Melbourne: ACER.
- 11 Makar, K. and Fielding-Wells, J. (2018). Shifting more than the goal posts: developing classroom norms of inquiry-based learning in mathematics, *Mathematics Education Research*, 30, pp. 53-63.
- 12 Stacey, K. and Vincent, J. (2009). Modes of reasoning in explanations in Australian eighthgrade mathematics textbooks, *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 3, pp. 271–288.
- 13 Sweller, J. (2021). Why Inquiry-based Approaches Harm Students' Learning, Analysis Paper No 24, Centre for Independent Studies, Sydney.
- 14 Toll, S. and van Luit, J. (2013). Accelerating the early numeracy development of kindergartners with limited working memory skills through remedial education, *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 34 (2), pp. 745-755.
- 15 Sweller, J. (2016). Working Memory, Longterm Memory, and Instructional Design, *Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, 5 (4), pp. 360-367.

- 16 Sweller, J.; van Merriënboer, J. J.; and Paas, F. (2019). Cognitive Architecture and Instructional Design: 20 Years Later, *Educational Psychology Review*, 31, pp. 261-292.
- 17 Australian Catholic University EDMA291
- 18 Alphacrucis College CRS214
- 19 Macquarie EDST2110
- 20 Monash EDF2066 & EDF3067
- 21 Newcombe, N.S. (2013). Cognitive development: Changing views of cognitive change, *WIREs in Cognitive Science*, 4, pp. 479-491.
- 22 Pashler, H. et al. (2008). Learning Styles: Concepts and Evidence, *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 9 (3), pp. 105–119.
- 23 Massa, L. J. and Mayer, R. E. (2006). Testing the ATI hypothesis: Should multimedia instruction accommodate verbalizer-visualizer cognitive style? *Learning and Individual Differences*, 16, pp. 321-335.
- 24 Willingham, D. T. (2018). Does Tailoring Instruction to "Learning Styles" Help Students Learn?, *American Educator*, Summer 2018.
- 25 Willingham, D. T.; Hughes, E. M.; and Dobolyi, D. G. (2015). The Scientific Status of Learning Styles Theories, *Teaching of Psychology*, 42 (3), pp. 266-271.
- 26 Papadatou-Pastou, M.; Touloumakos, A. K.; Koutouveli, C.; and Barrable, A. (2021). The learning styles neuromyth: when the same term means different things to different teachers, *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 36, pp. 511-531.
- 27 Agger, C. A. and Koenka, A. C. (2020). Does attending a deeper learning school promote student motivation, engagement, perseverance, and achievement? *Psychology in the Schools*, 57 (4), pp. 627-645.
- 28 Bragg, L. (2012). Testing the effectiveness of mathematical games as a pedagogical tool for children's learning, *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 10 (6), pp. 1445-1467.
- 29 Zhang, J.; Cheng, S. K.; Wu, C.; and Meng, Y. (2018). Cognitive and Affective Correlates of Chinese Children's Mathematical Word Problem Solving, *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 2357.
- 30 Ma, X. and Xu, J. (2004). Determining the Causal Ordering between Attitude toward Mathematics and Achievement in Mathematics, *American Journal of Education*, 110 (3), pp. 256-280.
- 31 van der Beek, J. P. J..; van der Ven, S. H. G..; Kroesbergen, E. H.; and Leseman, P. P. M., (2017). Self-concept mediates the relation between achievement and emotions in mathematics, *British*

Journal of Educational Psychology, 87 (3), pp. 478-495.

- 32 Ramirez, G.; Gunderson, E. A.; Levine, S. C.; and Beilock, S. L. (2013). Math Anxiety, Working Memory, and Math Achievement in Early Elementary School, *Cognition and Devleopment*, 14 (2), 187-202.
- 33 Sasanguie, D.; de Smedt, B.; Defever, E.; and Reynvoet, B. (2012). Association between basic numerical abilities and mathematics achievement, *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 30 (2), pp. 344-357.
- 34 Watts, T. W.; Duncan, G. J.; Clements, D. H.; and Sarama, J. (2017). What Is the Long-Run Impact of Learning Mathematics During Preschool? *Child Development*, 89 (2), pp. 539-555.
- 35 Watts, T. W.; Duncan, G. J.; Chen, M.; Claessens, A.; Davis-Kean, P. E.; Duckworth, K.; Engel, M.; Siegler, R.; and Susperreguy, M. I. (2015). The Role of Mediators in the Development of Longitudinal Mathematics Achievement Associations, *Child Development*, 86 (6), pp. 1892-1907.
- 36 York, J. and de Haan, J. W. (2018). A constructivist approach to game-based language learning: Student perceptions in a beginner-level EFL context, *International Journal of Game-Based Learning*, 8 (1), pp. 19-40.
- 37 de-Marcos, L. E.; Garcia-Lopez, E.; and Garcia-Cabot, A. (2016). On the effectiveness of gamelike and social approaches in learning: Comparing educational gaming, gamification & social networking, *Computers and Education*, 95, pp. 99-113.
- 38 Hu, X.; Gong, Y.; Lai, C.; and Leung, F. (2018). The relationship between ICT and student literacy in mathematics, reading, and science across 44 countries: A multilevel analysis, *Computers and Education*, 125, pp. 1-13.
- 39 Cheng, A. C. K. and Slavin, R. E. (2013). The effectiveness of educational technology applications for enhancing mathematics achievement in K-12 classrooms: A meta-analysis, *Educational Research Review*, 9, pp. 88-113.
- 40 Verbruggen, S.; Depaepe, F.; and Torbeyns, J. (2021). Effectiveness of educational technology in early mathematics education: A systematic literature review, *International Journal of Child-Computer Interaction*, 27, 100220.
- 41 Campuzano, L.; Dynarski, M.; Agodini, R.; and Rall, K. (2009). Effectiveness of reading and mathematics software products: Findings from two student cohorts (Executive summary No. NCEE 2009-4042). Washington, DC: Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance.
- 42 de Bruyckere, P.; Kirschner, P. A.; and Hulshof, C. D. (2015). Myths about Technology in Education, *Urban Myths about Learning and Education*, pp. 127-164.

- 43 Bai, S.; Hew, K. F.; and Huang, B. (2020). Does gamification improve student learning outcome? Evidence from a meta-analysis and synthesis of qualitative data in educational contexts, *Educational Research Review*, 30, 100322, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2020.100322
- 44 Zainuddin, Z.; Chu, S. K. W.; Shujahat, M.; and Perera, C. J. (2020). The impact of gamification on learning and instruction: A systematic review of empirical evidence, *Educational Research Review*, 30, 100326, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. edurev.2020.100326
- 45 Ran, H.; Kasli, M.; and Secada, W. G. (2021). A Meta-Analysis on Computer Technology Intervention Effects on Mathematics Achievement for Low-Performing Students in K-12 Classrooms, *Educational Computing Research*, 59 (1), pp. 119-153.
- 46 Li, Q. and Ma, X. (2010). A Meta-analysis of the Effects of Computer Technology on School Students' Mathematics Learning, *Educational Psychology Review*, 22, pp. 215-243.
- 47 Higgins, K.; Huscroft-d'Angelo, J.; and Crawford,
 L. (2019). Effects of Technology in Mathematics on
 Achievement, Motivation, and Attitude: A MetaAnalysis, *Educational Computing Research*, 57 (2),
 pp. 283-319.
- 48 Ran, H.; Kim, N. J.; and Secada, W. G. (2021). A meta-analysis on the effects of technology's functions and roles on students' mathematics achievement in K-12 classrooms, *Computer Assisted Learning*, in print, https://doi. org/10.1111/jcal.12611
- 49 Beserra, V.; Nussbaum, M.; and Oteo, M. (2019). On-Task and Off-Task Behavior in the Classroom: A Study on Mathematics Learning With Educational Video Games, *Educational Computing Research*, 56 (8), pp. 1361-1383.
- 50 Ran, H.; Kim, N. J.; and Secada, W. G. (2021). A meta-analysis on the effects of technology's functions and roles on students' mathematics achievement in K-12 classrooms, *Computer Assisted Learning*, in print, https://doi. org/10.1111/jcal.12611
- 51 Zhang, Y.; Luo, R.; Zhu, Y.; and Yin, Y. (2021). Educational Robots Improve K-12 Students' Computational Thinking and STEM Attitudes: Systematic Review, *Educational Computing Research*, 59 (7), pp.1450-1481.
- 52 Kiru, E.W.; Doabler, C.T.; Sorrells, A. M.; Cooc, N. A. (2018). Synthesis of Technology-Mediated Mathematics Interventions for Students With or at Risk for Mathematics Learning Disabilities, *Special Education Technology*, 33 (2), pp. 111-123.
- 53 Long, H. M.; Bouck, E. C.; and Jakubow, L. N. (2021). Explicit Instruction in Mathematics: Considerations for Virtual Learning, *Special Education Technology*, 36 (2).

- 54 Di Cesare, D. M.; Kaczorowski, T.; and Hashey, A. (2021). A Piece of the (Ed)Puzzle: Using the Edpuzzle Interactive Video Platform to Facilitate Explicit Instruction, *Special Education Technology*, 36 (2).
- 55 Kant, J. M.; Scheiter, K.; and Oschatz, K. (2017). How to sequence video modeling examples and inquiry tasks to foster scientific reasoning, *Learning and Instruction*, 52, pp. 46-58.
- 56 ter Vrugte, J.; de Jong, T.; Vandercruysse, S.; Wouters, P.; van Oostendorp, H.; and Elen, J. (2017). Computer game-based mathematics education: Embedded faded worked examples facilitate knowledge acquisition, *Learning and Instruction*, 50, pp. 44-53.
- 57 Fien, H.; Doabler, C. T.; Nelson, N. J.; Kosty, D. B.; Clarke, B.; and Baker, S. K. (2016) An Examination of the Promise of the NumberShire Level 1 Gaming Intervention for Improving Student Mathematics Outcomes, *Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 9 (4), pp. 635-661.
- 58 Mayer, D., Allard, A., Bates, R., Dixon, M., Doeke, B., Kline, J., Kostogriz, A., Moss, J., Rowan, L., Walker-Gibbs, B., White, S., and Hodder, P. (2015). Studying the Effectiveness of Teacher Education – Final Report. Deakin University.
- 59 Buckingham, J. and Meeks, L. (2019). Shortchanged: Preparation to teach reading in Initial Teacher Education, Research Report July 2019, MultiLit and Five from Five.
- 60 Adams, P. and McLennan, C. (2021). Towards initial teacher education quality: Epistemological considerations, *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 53 (6), pp. 644-654.
- 61 Mockler, N. (2018). Early career teachers in Australia: A critical policy historiography, *Education Policy*, 33 (2), pp. 262-278.
- 62 Churchward, P. and Willis, J. (2019). The pursuit of teacher quality: Identifying some of the multiple discourses of quality that impact the work of teacher educators, *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 47 (3), pp. 251-264.
- 63 Australian Government. (2015). Action Now: Classroom Ready Teachers –Australian Government Response, Canberra.
- 64 Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership. (2020 December). Spotlight: Initial teacher education today. https://www.aitsl.edu.au/ research/spotlight/initial-teacher-education-today
- 65 Department of Education, Skills and Employment. (2020). Teaching and Social Leadership: Alternative Pathways. <u>https://www.dese.gov.</u> <u>au/teaching-and-school-leadership/alternative-</u> <u>pathways</u>
- 66 Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership 2015, Accreditation of initial teacher education programs in Australia, AITSL, Melbourne.

- 67 AITSL (2020). National Initial Teacher EducationPipeline Australian Teacher Workforce Data Report1, Australian Teacher Workforce Data, AustralianInstitute for Teaching and School Leadership.
- 68 Mosvold, R. (2008). Real-life connections in Japan and the Netherlands :National teaching patterns and cultural beliefs, *International journal for mathematics teaching and learning*, 1-18.
- 69 Commonwealth of Australia (2008). National Numeracy Review Report, Commissioned by the Human Capital Working Group, Council of Australian Governments.
- 70 Clements. D. J. and Sarama, J. (2008). Experimental evaluation of the effects of a research-based preschool mathematics curriculum, *American Educational Research*, 45 (2), pp. 443-494.
- 71 Hiebert, J., Gallimore, R., Garnier, H., Bogard Givvin, K., Hollingsworth, H., Jacobs, J., Chui, A., Wearne, D., Smith, M., Kersting, N., Manaster, A., Tseng, E., Etterbeek, W., Manaster, C., Gonzales, P., & Stigler, J. (2003). Teaching mathematics in seven countries : results from the TIMSS 1999 video study, NCES (2003-013), National Center for Education Statistics, Washington D.C.
- 72 Leung, F. (2005). Some Characteristics of East Asian Mathematics Classrooms Based on Data from the Timss 1999 Video Study, *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 60, pp. 199-215.
- 73 OECD (2016). Teaching strategies for instructional quality: Insights from the TALIS-PISA link data, OECD Publishing.
- 74 Zanini, N. and Benton, T. (2015). The roles of teaching styles and curriculum in Mathematics achievement: Analysis of TIMSS 2011, *Research Matters*, Cambridge Assessment, 20, pp. 35-44
- 75 Zanini, N. and Benton, T. (2015). The roles of teaching styles and curriculum in Mathematics achievement: Analysis of TIMSS 2011, *Research Matters*, Cambridge Assessment, 20, pp. 35-44
- 76 Charitaki, G.; Tzivinikou, S.; Stefanou, G. et al. (2021). A meta-analytic synthesis of early numeracy interventions for low-performing young children, *SN Social Sciences*, 1, 105, https://doi. org/10.1007/s43545-021-00094-w
- 77 Stockard, J.; Wood, T.W.; Coughlin, C.; and Khoury, R. C. (2018). The Effectiveness of Direct Instruction Curricula: A Meta-Analysis of a Half Century of Research, *Review of Educational Research*, 88 (4), pp. 479-507.

- 78 Kroesbergen, E. H.; van Luit, J. E. H.; and Maas, C. J. M. (2004). Effectiveness of Explicit and Constructivist Mathematics Instruction for Low-Achieving Students in the Netherlands, *Elementary School Journal*, 104 (3), pp. 233-251.
- 79 Gersten, R.; Chard, D. J.; Jayanthi, M.; Baker, S. K.; Morphy, P.; and Flojo, J. (2009). Mathematics instruction for students with learning disabilities: A meta-analysis of instructional components, *Review of Educational Research*, 79, pp. 1202–1242.
- 80 Guilmois, C.; Popa-Roch, M.; Clément, C.; Bissonnette, S.; and Troadec, B. (2019). Effective numeracy educational interventions for students from disadvantaged social background: a comparison of two teaching methods, *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 25 (7-8), pp. 336–356.
- 81 Alfieri, L., Brooks, P. J., Aldrich, N. J., & Tenebaum, H. R. (2011). Does Discovery-Based Instruction Enhance Learning? Journal of Educational Psychology, 103(1), 1–18.
- 82 Stevens, E. A.; Rodgers, M. A.; and Powell, S. R. (2018). Mathematics Interventions for Upper Elementary and Secondary Students: A Meta-Analysis of Research, *Remedial and Special Education*, 39 (6), pp. 327-340.
- 83 Dennis, M. S.; Sharp, E.; Chovanes, J.; Thomas, A.; Burns, R. M.; Custer, B.; and Park, J. (2016). AMeta-Analysis of Empirical Research on Teaching Students with Mathematics Learning Difficulties, *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 31 (3), pp. 156-168.
- 84 Dennis, M. S.; Sharp, E.; Chovanes, J.; Thomas, A.; Burns, R. M.; Custer, B.; and Park, J. (2016). AMeta-Analysis of Empirical Research on Teaching Students with Mathematics Learning Difficulties, *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 31 (3), pp. 156-168.
- 85 Gersten, R.; Chard, D. J.; Jayanthi, M.; Baker, S. K.; Morphy, P.; and Flojo, J. (2009). Mathematics instruction for students with learning disabilities: A meta-analysis of instructional components, *Review* of Educational Research, 79, pp. 1202–1242.
- 86 Dennis, M. S.; Sharp, E.; Chovanes, J.; Thomas, A.; Burns, R. M.; Custer, B.; and Park, J. (2016). A meta-analysis of empirical research on teaching students with mathematics learning difficulties, *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 31, pp. 156–168.
- 87 Schnepel, S. and Aunio, P. (2021). A systematic review of mathematics interventions for primary school students with intellectual disabilities, *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, DOI: 10.1080/08856257.2021.1943268
- 88 Hwang, J. and Riccomini, P. J. (2016). Enhancing mathematical problem solving for secondary students with or at risk of learning disabilities: A literature review, *Learning Disabilities Research* and Practice, 31 (3), pp. 169-181.

- 89 Jitendra, A. K.; Lein, A. E.; Im, S.-h.; Alghamdi,
 A. A.; Hefte, S. B.; and Mouanoutoua, J. (2018).
 Mathematical interventions for secondary students with learning disabilities and mathematics difficulties: A meta-analysis, *Exceptional Children*, 84 (2), pp. 177-196.
- 90 Powell, S. R.; Doabler, C. T.; Akinola, O. A.; Therrien, W. J.; Maddox, S. A.; and Hess, K. E. (2020). A synthesis of elementary mathematics interventions: Comparisons of students with mathematics difficulty with and without comorbid reading difficulty, *Learning Disabilities*, 53 (4), pp. 244-276.
- 91 Charitaki, G.; Tzivinikou, S.; Stefanou, G. et al. (2021). A meta-analytic synthesis of early numeracy interventions for low-performing young children, *SN Social Sciences*, 1, 105, https://doi. org/10.1007/s43545-021-00094-w
- 92 Bryant, D. P.; Bryant, B. R.; Roberts, G, et al. (2011). Early Numeracy Intervention Program for First-Grade Students with Mathematics Difficulties, *Exceptional Children*, 78 (1), pp. 7-23.
- 93 Guilmois, C.; Popa-Roch, M.; Clément, C.; Bissonnette, S.; and Troadec, B. (2019). Effective numeracy educational interventions for students from disadvantaged social background: a comparison of two teaching methods, *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 25 (7-8), pp. 336–356.
- 94 Andersen, I. G. and Andersen, S. C. (2017). Student-Centered Instruction and Academic Achievement: Linking Mechanisms of Educational Inequality to Schools' Instructional Strategy, *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 38 (4), pp. 533-550.
- 95 Morgan, P. L.; Farkas, G.; and Maczuga, S. (2015). Which instructional practices most help first-grade students with and without mathematics difficulties? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 37 (2), pp. 184-205.
- 96 Doabler C.T.; Clarke, B.; Kosty, D. et al. (2021). Kindergarteners at Risk for Severe Mathematics Difficulties: Investigating Tipping Points of Core Mathematics Instruction, *Learning Disabilities*, 54 (2), pp. 97-110.
- 97 Sood, S. and Jittendra, A. K. (2013). An Exploratory Study of a Number Sense Program to Develop Kindergarten Students' Number Proficiency, *Learning Disabilities*, 46 (4), pp. 328-346.
- 98 Ziegler, E.; Edelsbrunner, P. A.; and Stern, E. (2018). The Relative Merits of Explicit and Implicit Learning of Contrasted Algebra Principles, *Educational Psychology Review*, 30 (2), pp. 531–558.
- 99 Morgan, P. L.; Farkas, G.; and Maczuga, S. (2015). Which Instructional Practices Most Help First-Grade Students With and Without Mathematics Difficulties? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 37 (2), pp. 184-205.

- 100 Zhang, L.; Kirschner, P. A.; Cobern, W. W.; and Sweller, J. (2021). There is an Evidence Crisis in Science Educational Policy, *Educational Psychology Review*, in print, https://doi. org/10.1007/s10648-021-09646-1
- 101 Clarke, B.; Doabler, C.; Smolkowski, K; Nelson, E.K.; Fien, H.; Baker, S.K.; and Kosty, D. (2016). Testing the immediate and long-term efficacy of a tier 2 kindergarten mathematics intervention, *Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 9 (4), pp. 607–634.
- 102 Charalambous, C.Y.; Hill, H.C.; and Ball, D.L. (2011). Prospective teachers' learning to provide instructional explanations: how does it look and what might it take? *Mathematics Teacher Education*, 14, pp. 441–463.
- 103 Hott, B.L.; Dibbs, R-A,; Naizer, G.; Raymond, L.; Reid, C. C.; Martin, A. (2019). Practitioner Perceptions of Algebra Strategy and Intervention Use to Support Students With Mathematics Difficulty or Disability in Rural Texas, *Rural Special Education Quarterly*;38 (1), pp. 3-14.
- Morgan, P. L.; Farkas, G.; and Maczuga, S.
 (2015). Which Instructional Practices Most Help First-Grade Students With and Without Mathematics Difficulties? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 37 (2), pp. 184-205.
- 105 Mourshed, M.; Krawitz, M.; and Dorn, E. (2017). How to improve student educational outcomes: New insights from data analytics, McKinsey and Co.
- 106 Oliver, M.; McConney, A.; and Woods-McConney, A. (2021). The Efficacy of Inquiry-Based Instruction in Science: a Comparative Analysis of Six Countries Using PISA 2015, *Research in Science Education*, 51, pp. 595-616.
- 107 Jerrim, J.; Oliver, M.; and Sims, S. (2019). The relationship between inquiry-based teaching and students' achievement. New evidence from a longitudinal PISA study in England, *Learning and Instruction*, 61, pp. 35-44.
- 108 Eriksson, K.; Helenius, O.; and Ryve, A. (2019). Using TIMSS items to evaluate the effectiveness of different instructional practices, *Instructional Science*, 47, pp. 1-18.
- 109 Schwerdt, G. and Wuppermann, A. (2011). Is traditional teaching really that bad? A withinstudent between-subject approach, *Economics of Education Review*, 30 (2), pp. 365-379.
- 110 Lavy, V. (2011). What makes an effective teacher? Quasi-experimental Evidence, *NBER Working Paper*, No. 16885.
- 111 Echazarra, A. et al. (2016). How teachers teach and students learn: successful strategies for school, *OECD Education Working Paper Series*, WP No 130, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- 112 Tournaki, N. (2003). The differential effects of teaching addition through strategy instruction versus drill and practice to students with and

without learning disabilities, *Learning Disabilities*, 36 (5), pp. 449–458.

- 113 Doabler, C. T. et al (2018). Investigating the Longitudinal Effects of a Core Mathematics Program on Evidence-Based Teaching Practices in Mathematics, *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 41 (3), pp. 144-158.
- 114 Doabler, C. T. et al (2019). Do Components of Explicit Instruction Explain the Differential Effectiveness of a Core Mathematics Program for Kindergarten Students With Mathematics Difficulties? A Mediated Moderation Analysis, Assessment for Effective Intervention, 44 (3), pp. 197-211.
- 115 Gersten, R., Beckmann, S., Clarke, B., Foegen, A., Marsh, L., Star, J. R., & Witzel, B. (2009). Assisting students struggling with mathematics: Response to Intervention (RtI) for elementary and middle schools (NCEE 2009-4060). Washington, DC: National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sci ences, U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from http://ies. ed.gov/ ncee/wwc/publications/practiceguides/.
- Camburn, E. M. and Han, S. W. (2011). Two Decades of Generalizable Evidence on U.S. Instruction from National Surveys, *Teachers College Record*, 113 (3), pp. 561-610.
- 117 Alfieri, L.; Brooks, P. J.; Aldrich, N. J.; and Tenebaum, H. R. (2011). Does Discovery-Based Instruction Enhance Learning? *Educational Psychology*, 103 (1), pp. 1–18.
- 118 Jitendra, A. K.; Griffin, C. C.; McGoey, K.; Gardill, M. C.; Bhat, P.; and Riley, T. (1998). Effects of mathematical word problem solving by students at risk or with mild disabilities, *Educational Research*, 91(6), pp. 345–355.
- 119 Fuchs, L. S.; Fuchs, D.; Prentice, K.; Burch, M.; Hamlett, C. L.; Owen, R., (2003). Explicitly teaching for transfer: Effects on third-grade students' mathematical problem solving, *Educational Psychology*,95 (2), pp. 293–305.
- 120 Tournaki, N. (2003). The differential effects of teaching addition through strategy instruction versus drill and practice to students with and without learning disabilities, *Learning Disabilities*, 36 (5), pp. 449–458.
- 121 Alfieri, L.; Brooks, P. J.; Aldrich, N. J.; and Tenebaum, H. R. (2011). Does Discovery-Based Instruction Enhance Learning? *Educational Psychology*, 103 (1), pp. 1–18.
- 122 Lachner, A. and Nückles, M. (2016). Tell me why! Content knowledge predicts process-orientation of math researchers' and math teachers' explanations, *Instructional Science*, 44, pp. 221–242.

- 123 Wilson, C. L. and Sindelar, P. T. (1991). Direct instruction in math word problems: Students with learning disabilities, *ExceptionalChildren*,57 (6), pp. 512–519.
- 124 Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive Load During Problem Solving: Effects on Learning, *Cognitive Science*, 12 (2), pp. 257-285.
- 125 Ashman, G.; Kalyuga, S.; and Sweller, J. (2020). Problem-solving or Explicit Instruction: Which Should Go First When Element Interactivity Is High? *Educational Psychology Review*, 32, pp. 229-247.
- 126 Kant, J. M.; Scheiter, K.; and Oschatz, K. (2017). How to sequence video modeling examples and inquiry tasks to foster scientific reasoning, *Learning and Instruction*, 52, pp. 46-58.
- 127 Bryant, B. R.; Bryant, D. P.; Roberts, G.; and Fall, A. (2016). Effects of an early numeracy intervention on struggling kindergarteners' mathematics performance, *International Journal for Research in Learning Disabilities*, 3 (1), pp. 29-45.
- 128 Riccomini, P. J. and Morano, S. (2019). Guided practice for complex, multistep procedures in algebra: Scaffolding through worked solutions, *Exceptional Children*, 51, pp. 445–454
- 129 Doabler, C.T.; Gearin, B.; Baker, S.K. et al. (2019). Student Practice Opportunities in Core Mathematics Instruction: Exploring for a Goldilocks Effect for Kindergartners With Mathematics Difficulties, *Learning Disabilities*, 52 (3), pp. 271-283.
- 130 Doabler, C. T. et al (2019). Do Components of Explicit Instruction Explain the Differential Effectiveness of a Core Mathematics Program for Kindergarten Students With Mathematics Difficulties? A Mediated Moderation Analysis, Assessment for Effective Intervention, 44 (3), pp. 197-211.
- 131 Fuchs, L. S.; Geary, D. C.; Compton, D. L.; Fuchs, D.; Schatschneider, C.; Hamlett, C.
 L.; DeSelms, J.; Seethaler, P. M.; Wilson, J.; Craddock, C. F.; Bryant, J. D.; Luther, K.; and Changas, P. (2013). Effects of first-grade number knowledge tutoring with contrasting forms of practice, *Educational Psychology*, 105 (1), pp. 58–77.
- 132 Doabler, C. T.; Baker, S. K.; Kosty, D. B.; Smolkowski, K.; Clarke, B.; Miller, S. J.; and Fien, H. (2015). Examining the Association between Explicit Mathematics Instruction and Student Mathematics Achievement, *Elementary School Journal*, 115 (3), pp. 303-333.
- 133 Schunk, D. H. and Cox, P. D. (1986). Strategy training and attributional feedback with learning disabled students, *Educational Psychology*, 78 (3), pp. 201–209.
- 134 Jitendra, A. K.; Griffin, C. C.; McGoey, K.; Gardill, M. C.; Bhat, P.; and Riley, T. (1998). Effects of

mathematical word problem solving by students at risk or with mild disabilities, *Educational Research*, 91(6), pp. 345–355.

- 135 Jitendra, A. K.,; Griffin, C. C.; McGoey, K.; Gardill, M. C.; Bhat, P.; and Riley, T. (1998).
 Effects of mathematical word problem solving by students at risk or with mild disabilities, *Educational Research*, 91 (6), pp. 345–355.
- Hughes, C. A.; Morris, J. R.; Therrien, W. J.; and Benson, S. K. (2017). Explicit instruction: Historical and contemporary contexts, *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 32 (3), pp. 140–148.
- 137 Doabler, C.T.; Clarke, B.; Kosty, D. et al. (2021). Measuring the Quantity and Quality of Explicit Instructional Interactions in an Empirically Validated Tier 2 Kindergarten Mathematics Intervention, *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 44 (1), pp. 50-62.
- 138 Darch, C.; Carnine, D.; and Gersten, R. (1984). Explicit instruction in mathematics problem solving, *Educational Research*,77 (6), pp. 351– 359.
- 139 Chard, D. J. and Jungjohann, K. (2006).
 Scaffolding instruction for success in mathematics learning, intersection: Mathematics education sharing common grounds. Houston, TX: Exxon-Mobil Foundation
- 140 Hughes, C. A. and Riccomini, P. J. (2019).Purposeful independent practice procedures: An introduction to the special issue, *Exceptional Children*, 51, pp. 405–408.
- 141 Chen, O.; Kalyuga, S.; and Sweller, J. (2016). Relations between the worked example and generation effects on immediate and delayed tests, *Learning and Instruction*, 45, pp. 20-30.
- 142 Renkl, A. (2002). Learning from worked-out examples: Instructional explanations supplement self-explanations, *Learning and Instruction*, 12, pp. 529-556
- 143 Renkl, A. (2013). Toward an Instructionally Oriented Theory of Example-Based Learning, *Cognitive Science*, 38 (1), pp. 1-37.
- 144 Renkl, A. (2017). Learning from worked examples in mathematics: Students relate procedures to principles, *ZDM Mathematics Education*, 49, pp. 571-584.
- 145 Retnowati, E.; Ayres, P.; and Sweller, J. (2010). Worked example effects in individual and group work settings, *Educational Psychology*, 30 (3), pp. 349–367.
- 146 Leppink, J.; Paas, F.; van Gog, T.; van der Vleuten, C.; van Merriënboer, J. (2014). Effects of pairs of problems and examples on task performance and different types of cognitive load, *Learning and Instruction*, 30, pp. 32-42.
- 147 Atkinson, R. K.; Renkl, A.; and Merrill, M. M. (2003). Transitioning From Studying Examples to Solving Problems: Effects of Self-Explanation

Prompts and Fading Worked-Out Steps, Educational Psychology, 95 (4), pp. 774–783.

- 148 Wittwer, J. and Renkl, A. (2010). How Effective are Instructional Explanations in Example-Based Learning? A Meta-Analytic Review, *Educational Psychology Review*, 22, pp. 393–409.
- 149 Kalyuga, S.; Ayres, P.; Chandler, P.; and Sweller, J. (2010). The Expertise Reversal Effect, *Educational Psychologist*, 38 (1), pp. 23-31.
- 150 Gersten, R.; Chard, D. J.; Jayanthi, M.; Baker, S. K.; Morphy, P.; and Flojo, J. (2009). Mathematics instruction for students with learning disabilities: A meta-analysis of instructional components, *Review of Educational Research*, 79, pp. 1202–1242.
- 151 Darch, C.; Carnine, D.; and Gersten, R. (1984). Explicit instruction in mathematics problem solving, *Educational Research*,77 (6), pp. 351– 359.
- 152 Fyfe, E. R. and Brown, S. A. (2018). Feedback influences children's reasoning about math equivalence: a meta-analytic review, *Thinking and Reasoning*, 24 (2), pp. 157–178.
- 153 Hattie, J. and Timperley, H. (2007). The power of feedback, *Review of Educational Research*, 77, pp. 81–112.
- 154 Doabler, C.T.; Clarke, B.; Kosty, D. et al. (2021). Measuring the Quantity and Quality of Explicit Instructional Interactions in an Empirically Validated Tier 2 Kindergarten Mathematics Intervention, *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 44 (1), pp. 50-62.
- 155 Kaefer, J.; Kuger, S.; Klieme, E.; and Kunter, M. (2019). The significance of dealing with mistakes for student achievement and motivation: Results of doubly latent multilevel analyses, *European Journal of Psychology of* Education, 34, pp. 731–753.
- 156 Fuchs, L. S.; Fuchs, D.; Prentice, K.; Burch, M.; Hamlett, C. L.; Owen, R.; and Jancek, D. (2003). Explicitly teaching for transfer: Effects on thirdgrade students' mathematical problem solving, *Educational Psychology*, 95 (2), pp. 293-305.

- 157 Namkung, J.M. and Bricko, N. (2021). The Effects of Algebraic Equation Solving Intervention for Students With Mathematics Learning Difficulties, *Learning Disabilities*, 54 (2), pp. 111-123.
- 158 Mayfield, K. and Chase, P.N. (2002). The effects of cumulative practice on mathematics problem solving, *Applied Behavior Analysis*, 35 (2), pp.105-23.
- 159 Fuchs, L. S.; Fuchs, D.; Prentice, K.; Burch, M.; Hamlett, C. L.; Owen, R., (2003). Explicitly teaching for transfer: Effects on third-grade students' mathematical problem solving, *Educational Psychology*,95 (2), pp. 293–305.
- 160 Rosenshine, B. (2012). Principles of Instruction: Research-based strategies that all teachers should know, *American Educator*, Spring 2012, pp. 12-39.
- 161 van Gog, T. and Sweller, J. (2015). Not New, but Nearly Forgotten: the Testing Effect Decreases or even Disappears as the Complexity of Learning Materials Increases, *Educational Psychology Review*, 27, pp. 247-264.
- 162 Chen, O.; Castro-Alonso, J. C.; Paas, F.; and Sweller, J. (2018). Extending cognitive load theory to incorporate working memory resource depletion: evidence from the spacing effect, *Educational Psychology Review*, 30 (2), pp. 483-501.
- 163 Taylor, K. and Rohrer, D. (2010). The effects of interleaved practice. Applied Cognitive Psychology, 24 (6), pp. 837–848.
- 164 Chen, O.; Paas, F.; and Sweller, J. (2021). Spacing and Interleaving Effects Require Distinct Theoretical Bases: a Systematic Review Testing the Cognitive Load and Discriminative-Contrast Hypotheses, *Educational Psychology Review*, in print, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-021-09613-w
- 165 Rohrer, D. and Taylor, K. (2007). The shuffling of mathematics problems improves learning, *Instructional Science*, 35 (6), pp. 481-498.

About the Author



Glenn Fahey

Glenn Fahey is education research fellow and author of several CIS research papers. His most recent Research Reports are Beating the Lockdown Blues: Students pass the covid test; Mind the Gap: Understanding the Indigenous education gap and how to close it and Dollars and Sense: Time for Smart Reform of Australian School Funding. He is a former consultant in education governance at the OECD's Centre for Educational Research and Innovation.



Jordan O'Sullivan

Jordan O'Sullivan is a teacher, school leader, and director of Shaping Minds Australia. He has been successful in leading instructional and school-based curriculum change initiatives that have resulted in significant improvements in student outcomes. He now works with schools and teachers to share this experience and support them on their own journey.



Jared Bussell

Jared Bussell is a Level 3 Classroom Teacher, school leader and Director of Shaping Minds Australia. He has worked directly with hundreds of teachers from dozens of schools to bridge the gap between research and practice through professional learning delivery, coaching, and pragmatic demonstrations of evidence-based instructional strategies.

Acknowledgement

This research project was possible thanks to the generous support of the Susan McKinnon Foundation.

Related Works

Deidre Clary and Fiona Mueller, *Writing Matters: Reversing a legacy of policy failure in Australian education*, CIS Analysis Paper 23 (AP23), July 2021.

Kerry Hempenstall and Jennifer Buckingham, *Read about it: Scientific evidence for effective teaching of reading*, CIS Research Report 11 (RR11), March2016.



Analysis Paper 29 (AP29) • ISSN: 2209-3753 (Online) 2209-3745 (Print) • ISBN: 978-1-922674-05-0

Published November 2021 by the Centre for Independent Studies Limited. Views expressed are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Centre's staff, advisors, directors or officers.

© Centre for Independent Studies (ABN 15 001 495 012)

This publication is available from the Centre for Independent Studies. Visit cis.org.au